

AUSTRALIA

Public Health Association of Australia submission on the ACT Regulation of Same Day Liquor Delivery Providers Discussion Paper

Contact for recipient: A: Justice and Community Safety Directorate, GPO Box 158 Canberra ACT 2601 E: LRGpolicy@act.gov.au T: (02) 6205 5075

Contact for PHAA: Terry Slevin – Chief Executive Officer A: 20 Napier Close, Deakin ACT 2600 E: phaa@phaa.net.au T: (02) 6285 2373 14 September 2023

PHAA submission on the ACT Regulation of Same Day Liquor Delivery Providers Discussion Paper

# Contents

Preamble	3
The Public Health Association of Australia	3
Vision for a healthy population	3
Mission for the Public Health Association of Australia	3
Introduction	4
PHAA Response to the Regulation of Same Day Liquor Delivery Providers Discussion Paper	4
Prevent late night delivery	4
Prevent rapid delivery	5
Effective Identification (ID) checks	5
Support delivery staff	5
1. Delivery-specific responsible service of alcohol (RSA) training and licencing	5
2. Liability of delivery providers	6
Predatory marketing and Industry self-regulation as a conflict of interest	5
Improve data collection and reporting	7
Genuinely protect the community	7
Other comments	3
Conclusion	8
References	9

2

PHAA submission on the ACT Regulation of Same Day Liquor Delivery Providers Discussion Paper

# Preamble

### The Public Health Association of Australia

The Public Health Association of Australia (PHAA) is recognised as the principal non-government organisation for public health in Australia working to promote the health and well-being of all Australians. It is the pre-eminent voice for the public's health in Australia.

The PHAA works to ensure that the public's health is improved through sustained and determined efforts of the Board, the National Office, the State and Territory Branches, the Special Interest Groups and members.

The efforts of the PHAA are enhanced by our vision for a healthy Australia and by engaging with like-minded stakeholders in order to build coalitions of interest that influence public opinion, the media, political parties and governments.

Health is a human right, a vital resource for everyday life, and key factor in sustainability. Health equity and inequity do not exist in isolation from the conditions that underpin people's health. The health status of all people is impacted by the social, cultural, political, environmental and economic determinants of health. Specific focus on these determinants is necessary to reduce the unfair and unjust effects of conditions of living that cause poor health and disease. These determinants underpin the strategic direction of the Association.

All members of the Association are committed to better health outcomes based on these principles.

# Vision for a healthy population

A healthy region, a healthy nation, healthy people: living in an equitable society underpinned by a well-functioning ecosystem and a healthy environment, improving and promoting health for all.

The reduction of social and health inequities should be an over-arching goal of national policy and recognised as a key measure of our progress as a society. All public health activities and related government policy should be directed towards reducing social and health inequity nationally and, where possible, internationally.

# Mission for the Public Health Association of Australia

As the leading national peak body for public health representation and advocacy, to drive better health outcomes through increased knowledge, better access and equity, evidence informed policy and effective population-based practice in public health.



Public Health Association

PHAA submission on the ACT Regulation of Same Day Liquor Delivery Providers Discussion Paper

# Introduction

PHAA welcomes the opportunity to provide input to the Regulation of Same Day Liquor Delivery Providers Discussion Paper.

In Australia, alcohol is the most widely used drug.<sup>(1)</sup> Alcohol consumption is deeply embedded in Australia's culture, as its regular use is vastly perceived as acceptable for the purposes of socialisation, relaxation and/or commiseration.<sup>(2)</sup> However, alcohol-related harms are responsible for a substantial burden of death, disease and injury in Australia, which is influenced by not only unsafe drinking patterns but by the interactions between age, genetics, physical, cultural, social and environmental determinants of health.<sup>(3)</sup>

Alcohol is the fifth leading risk factor to the burden of disease in Australia, contributing to several cancers, chronic liver disease and injuries such as road incidents and self-inflicted injuries.<sup>(4)</sup> In the Australian Capital Territory (ACT), there are almost 100 alcohol-attributable deaths and 1500 alcohol-attributable hospitalisations annually.<sup>(5)</sup> Yet, between 2016 and 2021, the proportion of ACT adults who identified as risky drinkers significantly increased from 20.4% to 29.2%.<sup>(6)</sup> Almost half (43%), of Canberrans receiving treatment for drug use identified alcohol as the principal drug of concern.<sup>(7)</sup>

The online sale and delivery of alcohol has rapidly increased over recent years, particularly due to the COVID-19 pandemic altering purchasing habits.<sup>(8)</sup> In 2020, the online sales and delivery of alcohol more than tripled 2019 figures.<sup>(9)</sup> Consequently, research into the impacts of online sale and delivery of alcohol is still being generated and the required regulatory measures are playing catch-up. PHAA is deeply concerned about the increased risk that underregulated online sale and delivery of alcohol has on alcohol-related harms in the ACT community.<sup>(10)</sup>

# PHAA Response to the Regulation of Same Day Liquor Delivery Providers Discussion Paper

# Prevent late night delivery

The discussion paper indicates that home delivery of alcohol can trade from 7am to 11pm from Monday to Saturday; and 9am and 11pm on Sunday. No changes are proposed for these times in the discussion paper.

Time is an important factor affecting levels of alcohol harm. Alcohol-related assaults increase substantially at night, peaking between midnight and 3am, with most assaults occurring in the home and involving domestic violence.<sup>(11)</sup> Additionally, suicides and sudden or unnatural deaths involving alcohol predominantly happen at night, in the home environment.<sup>(12,13)</sup>

Considering the evidence regarding the risk of violence, suicide and unnatural deaths, the current alcohol delivery timeframe is inappropriate.

#### **PHAA Recommendation**

• Limit late-night alcohol deliveries to 10am-10pm, every day of the week.

### Prevent rapid delivery

The Discussion Paper states that "a shorter window for rapid delivery will be considered to minimise alcohol related harm".<sup>(14)</sup> PHAA appreciates this reconsideration; for if the ACT Government reviews the evidence regarding how rapid delivery does influence increased drinking, then in the interest of minimising alcohol harm, a minimum 2-hour delay from ordering to delivery will be legislated.

Rapid delivery enables the delivery of alcohol within 30 minutes from ordering.<sup>(15)</sup> Current research illustrates that same-day and rapid delivery of alcohol is associated with six times higher odds of people drinking at hazardous/harmful levels,<sup>(16)</sup> as people tend to extend drinking sessions that might have normally ended, and targets people who drink at high-risk levels or are experiencing alcohol dependence.<sup>(17)</sup>

#### **PHAA Recommendation**

• Introduce a minimum 2-hour safety pause between the order and delivery of alcohol products.

# **Effective Identification (ID) checks**

PHAA supports the ACT's introduction of ID checks for online alcohol sales at point of purchase via Australia Post Keypass ID and point of delivery via government issued ID document and the amendments that bar alcohol from being left unattended, delivered to someone who is intoxicated, or to a minor.<sup>(14)</sup>

#### **PHAA Recommendations**

- Full implementation and enforcement of new alcohol delivery and purchasing amendments.
- Introduce test purchasing to ensure compliance with online sales and delivery of alcohol laws. Appropriate penalties must be enforced for non-compliance.
- Capture data on the demographics of people accessing the service and the frequency of incidents (e.g., refused deliveries). Government and health bodies to utilise this data to create evidence-informed policies and it assists in calculating alcohol outlet density in a geographic area.

### Support delivery staff

#### 1. Delivery-specific responsible service of alcohol (RSA) training and licencing

The ACT currently has no specific requirements for delivery staff to have RSA training or a liquor licence.<sup>(18)</sup> PHAA does not support the ACT Government's legislative amendments for delivery staff to do RSA training specifically tailored to the rapid alcohol delivery. As stated, rapid delivery of alcohol is an unnecessary, harmful risk to individuals and the community. There should be no rapid delivery category.

RSA training should be maintained by all delivery staff responsible for the delivery of alcohol (same-day and non-same day). Rapid delivery should be limited to a minimum time window of 2 hours.

Additionally, there is no licence category for the online sale or delivery of alcohol.<sup>(18)</sup> The Government should establish a separate, specific licence category for entities that deliver or sell alcohol online. This will reduce the number of exclusions and exemptions required, and more closely target the specific entities involved. Without this, the Government has limited oversight and less compliance enforcement options.

#### PHAA Recommendations:

• RSA training should be obtained by all alcohol delivery staff. Deliverers should have further support and education regarding their rights and responsibilities, as well as de-escalation techniques.

• A specific licence category must be created for entities that sell alcohol online and deliver alcohol.

#### 2. Liability of delivery providers

The ACT discussion paper outlines that safeguards will be implemented to ensure delivery drivers are not penalised by the licensee for non-deliveries due to RSA requirements.<sup>(14)</sup> PHAA supports this, particularly in light of the New South Wales (NSW) Alcohol Delivery Reforms (Stage 1) findings which illustrated that one in 10 drivers who refused a delivery had been penalised by their employer.<sup>(19)</sup> Drivers should be supported to refuse alcohol supply if appropriate and never be penalised for making such a determination.

#### PHAA Recommendations:

• Make delivery companies (including bottle shops and online companies), liable for delivery breaches, such as delivery to children or people who are intoxicated.

### Predatory marketing and Industry self-regulation as a conflict of interest

Alcohol is addictive and harmful, yet alcohol retailers continuously promote alcohol delivery, alcohol specials and drinking at home.<sup>(20)</sup> All while internet user's data and information are collected from search engines, e-commerce platforms and social media.<sup>(21)</sup> Resulting in people's data being analysed, sold and used to create personalised advertising, tailored and targeted towards their interests and preferences.<sup>(21)</sup>

This becomes problematic for at-risk populations, such as children, young adults and people experiencing alcohol dependence.<sup>(21)</sup> Predatory marketing tools, like incentives to buy alcohol via 'Show Now' buttons, buy-now-pay-later schemes, push notifications, discounts, minimum spend deals, etc., all influence impulsive buying that can extend to same day or non-same day online sales and delivery of alcohol.<sup>(20)</sup>

Yet, this Discussion Paper has no proposals to address marketing behaviours or introduce health warning statements. The Paper states that alcohol providers need to include "safeguards to ensure customers can self-exclude from liquor delivery services and promotions without further contact from the provider".<sup>(14)</sup>

Industry self-regulation of alcohol marketing is a clear conflict of interest, as the alcohol industry intends to make profits out of increased alcohol sales. Self-regulation does not protect vulnerable groups and continues the promotion of harmful alcohol messaging.<sup>(22)</sup> The self-regulation of alcohol marketing by the alcohol and advertising industries has failed to protect young people and the general community, and should be replaced by independent, government-led regulation with sanctions for non-compliance.<sup>(23,24)</sup>

A legislative approach is required. Regulation by government can ensure effective, independent controls on all forms of alcohol advertising and promotion, focusing on strong privacy reforms and minimising the harms from digital marketing that promote same day and non-dame day alcohol delivery services.

#### PHAA Recommendations:

- Prevent predatory marketing by alcohol companies that promotes excessive and rapid alcohol use, by prohibiting direct links from advertisements to alcohol retail, such as push notifications.
- Extend the '*Responsible Promotion of Liquor Guidelines*' to apply to digital marketing, online sales, delivery and takeaway. Expand these guidelines to capture examples directly relevant to online retail marketing. Grant the commissioner discretion over determining which other marketing practices is also harmful in addition to the listed examples.
- Appropriate sanctions must be in place for any non-compliance of the strengthened regulation.

• Require alcohol companies with online advertising, to clearly display on their websites at least three prescribed rotating health warning statements about the risk of harm from alcohol, with a link to the Australian guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol.

### Improve data collection and reporting

In NSW, the reporting requirements for alcohol delivery providers has been critical for Government; enabling easier data collection on the demography, frequency, volume and types of alcohol delivery.<sup>(25)</sup> The reporting of alcohol delivery data also captures the frequency of incidents, like refused delivery.<sup>(26,27)</sup>

Furthermore, the reporting of alcohol delivery data provides evidence that will assist policymakers and other stakeholders to make informed, evidence-based policies and regulations to reduce alcohol harms.<sup>(28)</sup>

PHAA supports the Paper's proposal to capture delivery data and record incidents of refused delivery for same day liquor delivery services, thus creating a report of this data to Access Canberra annually.

However, this reporting should extend to non-same day delivery. The risk of harm from alcohol to individuals, families and communities remains, regardless of same or non-same day delivery. Reporting non-same day data also establishes supply density and presents the full picture of online sale and delivery of alcohol in the ACT.

#### PHAA Recommendations:

- Collect same-day and non-same day alcohol delivery data.
- Report delivery data such as refused deliveries and volume of alcohol sold online and delivered, by geographic area to regulators (e.g., by Local Government Area), to enable monitoring of deliveries, frequency of compliance issues and for a more accurate calculation of alcohol supply density.
- Publish frequent reports on monitoring and enforcement activity including online sales data, and delivery data such as refused deliveries.

# **Genuinely protect the community**

The evidence demonstrating the association between the density of alcohol outlets and increase in alcoholrelated harm is abundant.<sup>(29,30)</sup> The ACT *Liquor Act* requires consideration of harm minimisation and community safety aspects of the proximity of alcohol outlets.<sup>(18)</sup> Communities should have a say as to the density of alcohol providers in their environments.

The Discussion Paper does not include reference to public consultation for online sales and delivery of alcohol. Liquor licence applications are the opportunity for a community to be involved in the decision-making process. Providing a platform to share concerns about the potential impact of increased access and supply of alcohol. Yet without a specific licence category for online sales and delivery businesses to apply for, no associated public consultation process is triggered by such licence applications.

There must be an equivalent process for assessments to be made and for the community to be heard regarding availability of online sales and delivery of alcohol in their area.

Improvements can be made to current community consultation processes also. As is, the process has a power imbalance where alcohol companies can run protracted appeals and defences as they have finances and resources for legal and planning advice. Impacted and concerned communities do not.

#### PHAA Recommendations:

- Improve community access, information and support for engaging with licence applications.
- Provide resourcing for targeted and independent support for members of the public impacted by increases in liquor supply density.
- Engage with all relevant stakeholders to ensure the consultation process is informed by relevant expertise of alcohol harm.
- Consult with the community and conduct a community impact statement to identify their voice, needs, expectations and aspirations for their community. Including prescribing an effective community impact process, (e.g., community impact statement), for online sales and delivery, publishing full licence applications with risk-assessment management plans.

#### **Other comments**

#### Scope of 'same day' delivery

A review of *non-same day* delivery should not be excluded from the scope of the consultation, when the risk of unattended, late night, intoxicated and underage delivery is the same for non-same day delivery.

#### Two-year review

The commitment to a 2-year review of the new regulatory framework is welcomed.

# Conclusion

PHAA supports the direction of the Discussion Paper on the Regulation of Same Day Liquor Delivery Providers, however, we urge the inclusion of key policies to bolster online sales and delivery legislation:

- Limit late-night deliveries, prevent rapid delivery, bolster online and delivery identification checks.
- All delivery drivers must have RSA training, receive safety support and must not be penalised for non-deliveries. Alcohol companies must be liable for compliance breaches.
- ACT government must regulate the marketing of alcohol products, including data driven digital marketing, sanctions for non-compliance and health warnings on retailer's websites.
- All same day data reporting must apply to non-same day.
- Protect the community by introducing a separate liquor license for alcohol delivery and improving community consultation practices.

Please do not hesitate to contact me should you require additional information or have any queries in relation to this submission.

Adjunct Professor Terry Slevin Chief Executive Officer Public Health Association of Australia

14/09/2023

# References

- National Health and Medical Research Council. Australian guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol [Internet]. Canberra; 2020 [cited 2022 Dec 9]. Available from: https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/about-us/publications/australian-guidelines-reduce-health-risksdrinking-alcohol#block-views-block-file-attachments-content-block-1
- 2. Pennay A, MacLean S, Rankin G. Hello Sunday Morning: Alcohol, (non)consumption and selfhood. International Journal of Drug Policy. 2016 Feb;28:67–75.
- Sudhinaraset M, Wigglesworth C, Takeuchi DT. Social and Cultural Contexts of Alcohol Use: Influences in a Social-Ecological Framework. Alcohol Res [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2023 Sep 5];38(1):35–45. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4872611/
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2021 [cited 2023 Aug 1]. Australian Burden of Disease Study: Impact and causes of illness and death in Australia 2018. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/5ef18dc9-414f-4899-bb35-08e239417694/aihw-bod-29.pdf.aspx?inline=true
- National Drug Research Institute. Alcohol-attributable hospitalisations [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2023 Apr 28]. Available from: https://ndri.curtin.edu.au/ndri/media/documents/naip/naip016hospitalisations.pdf
- ACT Government. ACT General Health Survey 2011–2021 Adults: Health Series Number 69 Epidemiology Section [Internet]. Canberra; 2023 [cited 2023 Sep 11]. Available from: https://www.health.act.gov.au/sites/default/files/2023-08/ACT%20General%20Health%20Survey%202011-2021%20adult%20health%20trends%20report\_web%20version.pdf
- 7. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Alcohol and other drug treatment services in Australia annual report: ACT [Internet]. Canberra; 2023 Jun [cited 2023 Sep 11]. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/alcohol-other-drug-treatment-services/alcohol-other-drug-treatment-services-australia/contents/state-and-territory-summaries/australian-capital-territory
- Colbert S, Wilkinson C, Feng X, Thornton L, Richmond R. You've got mail: Drinks are on sale! A study to assess volume and content of direct marketing received from online alcohol retailers in Australia. International Journal of Drug Policy [Internet]. 2022 Jul [cited 2023 Sep 5];105:103705. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35489211/
- 9. Roy Morgan Consulting. Finding No: 8661. 2021 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. Online alcohol sales soar in 2020, but will this market continue to grow in a post-COVID environment? Available from: https://www.roymorgan.com/findings/online-alcohol-sales-soar-in-2020-but-will-this-market-continue-to-grow-in-a-post-covid-environment
- 10. Mojica-Perez Y, Callinan S, Livingston M. Alcohol home delivery services: An investigation of use and risk. [Internet]. Melbourne; 2019 Nov [cited 2022 Dec 12]. Available from: https://fare.org.au/wp-content/uploads/Alcohol-home-delivery-services.pdf
- Briscoe S, Donnelly N. Temporal and Regional Aspects of Alcohol-Related Violence and Disorder [Internet]. 2001 May [cited 2022 Dec 9]. Available from: https://www.bocsar.nsw.gov.au/Pages/bocsar\_publication/Pub\_Summary/Alcohol\_Bulletin/ab01-Temporal-and-Regional-Aspects-of-Alcohol-Related-Violence-and-Disorder.aspx

- Darke S, Duflou J, Torok M. Toxicology and Circumstances of Completed Suicide by Means Other than Overdose. J Forensic Sci [Internet]. 2009 Mar [cited 2022 Dec 9];54(2):490–4. Available from: DOI: 10.1111/j.1556-4029.2008.00967.x
- Darke S, Duflou J, Torok M, Prolov T. Characteristics, circumstances and toxicology of sudden or unnatural deaths involving very high-range alcohol concentrations. Addiction [Internet]. 2013 Aug [cited 2022 Dec 9];108(8):1411–7. Available from: DOI: 10.1111/add.12191
- 14. ACT Government. REGULATION OF SAME DAY LIQUOR DELIVERY PROVIDERS A Discussion Paper [Internet]. Canberra; 2023 [cited 2023 Sep 12]. Available from: https://hdp-au-prod-app-actyoursay-files.s3.ap-southeast-

2.amazonaws.com/4616/9015/7883/Discussion\_Paper\_\_Regulation\_of\_Same\_Day\_Liquor\_Delivery \_Providers\_.pdf

- 15. Alcohol and Drug Foundation. Alcohol and Drug Foundation. 2023 [cited 2023 Sep 12]. How does online alcohol delivery work? Available from: https://adf.org.au/talking-about-drugs/online-alcohol-delivery/how-does-it-work/
- Colbert S, Wilkinson C, Thornton L, Feng X, Campain A, Richmond R. Cross-sectional survey of a convenience sample of Australians who use alcohol home delivery services. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2023 Jul 28;42(5):986–95.
- 17. Alcohol and Drug Foundation. The rise of online alcohol delivery [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. Available from: https://cdn.adf.org.au/media/documents/MB\_OnlineAlcoholDelivery.pdf
- ACT Government. ACT Legislation Register, Number: A2010-35. 2010 [cited 2023 Sep 12]. Liquor Act
  2010. Available from: https://www.legislation.act.gov.au/a/2010-35
- 19. Liquor and Gaming NSW. Review of Alcohol Delivery Reforms Stage 1 Summary Report. Sydney; 2022.
- 20. Alcohol Change Victoria. Alcohol Change Victoria. 2023 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. Online sale and home delivery of alcohol: measures to prevent harm in Victorian communities. Available from: https://www.alcoholchangevic.org.au/downloads/position-statements/online-alcohol-sales-and-delivery-position-statement.pdf
- 21. World Health Organization. Reducing the harm from alcohol by regulating cross-border alcohol marketing, advertising and promotion [Internet]. Geneva; 2022 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/354078/9789240046504-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 22. Foundation for Alcohol Research and Education and Cancer Council WA. An alcohol ad every 35 seconds. [Internet]. 2020 May [cited 2023 Sep 5]. Available from: https://fare.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020-05-08-CCWA-FARE-An-alcohol-ad-every-35-seconds-A-snapshot-final.pdf
- 23. Noel JK, Babor TF, Robaina K. Industry self-regulation of alcohol marketing: a systematic review of content and exposure research. Addiction. 2017 Jan;112:28–50.
- 24. Pierce H, Stafford J, Pettigrew S, Kameron C, Keric D, Pratt IS. Regulation of alcohol marketing in Australia: A critical review of the Alcohol Beverages Advertising Code Scheme's new Placement Rules. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2019 Jan;38(1):16–24.
- NSW Health. NSW Government. 2021 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. Alcohol Use and Related Harms in NSW:
  Surveillance Report 2021. Available from: https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/aod/resources/Publications/alcohol-surveillance-report-2021.pdf

- 26. World Health Organization. WHO Newsroom. 2019 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. 10 areas governments could work with to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/detail/10-areas-for-national-action-on-alcohol
- 27. Foundation for Alcohol Research and Education. Online sale and delivery of alcohol A growing risk to our community. Canberra; 2023 Apr.
- 28. Callinan S, Coomber K, Bury K, Wilkinson C, Stafford J, Riesenberg D, et al. In order to assess the impact of home delivery expansion within Australia, researchers need regulators to collect and share data on sales. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2023 Sep 27;42(6):1309–11.
- 29. Castillo-Carniglia A, Pear VA, Tracy M, Keyes KM, Cerdá M. Limiting Alcohol Outlet Density to Prevent Alcohol Use and Violence: Estimating Policy Interventions Through Agent-Based Modeling. Am J Epidemiol [Internet]. 2019 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Sep 12];188(4):694–702. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6438810/
- Connor JL, Kypri K, Bell ML, Cousins K. Alcohol outlet density, levels of drinking and alcohol-related harm in New Zealand: a national study. J Epidemiol Community Health (1978) [Internet]. 2011 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Sep 12];65(10):841–6. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech.2009.104935